1982

The State of Utah v. Robert Hicken : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Respondent was charged with distribution of a controlled substance for value, in violation of Utah Code Annotated §58-37-8(1)(a)(ii) (1953), as amended.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Respondent was tried before a jury on February 17, 1982 in the Fourth Judicial District Court for Utah County, State of Utah, the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen, presiding. The trial court issued a final order granting defendant-respondent's Motion to Dismiss the Information.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks a judgment and order of this Court affirming the trial court's final order granting defendant-respondent's Motion to Dismiss the Information.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 19, 1981, defendant-respondent Robert Hicken was at the home of Jerry Middleton in Provo, Utah, at the request of Jerry Middleton. Judy Smith was to arrive later.

Mr. Middleton had previously been arrested for the offense of possession of marijuana. Officer Markling of the Provo City Police had agreed with Mr. Middleton that the police would work with him on his "possession of marijuana" charge if Mr. Middleton would introduce the police into other instances or identify other individuals (T. 32).

Judy Smith had been a secretary in the Provo Police Department's Detective Division for a period of approximately two years. She had no acquaintance with defendant Robert Hicken and had never seen or observed Mr. Hicken prior to the date charged of October 19, 1981. Officer Markling had previously informed Miss Smith that Mr. Middleton would be able to introduce Miss Smith to someone who would make a buy of narcotics or assist her in making a buy. Pursuant to Officer Markling's directions, Miss Smith was given \$120.00 and told to be at the residence of Jerry Middleton. Miss Smith did not know either Jerry Middleton or the defendant nor had she any knowledge of the friendship or relationship between Mr. Middleton and the defendant.

The defendant Robert Hicken had arrived at the home previous to Miss Smith's arrival. When Miss Smith arrived, Mr. Hicken was on the phone talking to someone whose identity was unknown (T. 13). Prior to any introduction of Mr. Hicken to Miss Smith, Mr. Hicken and Mr. Middleton started talking about whether a Mr. Larsen would be home or not (T. 14).

Miss Smith testified under questioning by State's counsel:

A: No. When Mr. Hicken got off the phone Mr. Hicken and Jerry started talking about whether, I would assume, Mr. Larsen would be home or not. Things to that nature.

Q: So they were talking about whether or not Mr. Hicken's source was at home?

A: Right.

Q: Did he attempt to call?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. What did he say to you as he was calling?

A: He asked me how much I wanted, and I told him that I had \$120, and then he told me that a quarter of a pound would be -- well, I asked him how much he had first of all.

After some attempts, Mr. Hicken finally contacted the source, Mr. Larsen. Miss Smith overheard conversations from the defendant and Mr. Larsen regarding inquiries on behalf of Miss Smith made by the defendant. The conversation was as follows (again under questioning by State's counsel):

Q: Did he indicate anything to you about that \$150?

A: I told him I only had \$120. When he told me I could get a quarter of a pound for \$150 -- Mr. Hicken told me that -- he said I could pay the \$120 and he would pay \$30 to make up the difference and that I could pay him back later.

Q: So then did he finally reach who he was trying to get on the phone, this Mr. Larsen?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. What happened then?

A: He started talking to him and I heard him say -- ask him how much a quarter of a pound would be, and then he asked how much two lids would be, and he turned to me. Mr. Hicken asked me if I wanted two lids for \$95.

Q: What did you say?

A: I told him yes I did.

Q: What happened then?

A: He told the person -- Mr. Hicken told the person on the phone that we would be right over (T. 15 l. 15 - T. 16 l. 3).

The parties arrived at the Larsen residence and Miss Smith testified of the conversation therein:

Q: Okay. What happened when you got to Mr. Larsen's home?

A: Mr. Larsen let us in and led us into the front room where he asked Mr. Hicken if he would drive him to the 7-Eleven before he sold him the stuff.

Q: Then what happened?

A: Mr. Hicken said that I was the one buying it, and so Mr. Larsen said, "Oh." And he went into the back room.

Q: Who was there? Who was there in the front room there at the Larsens?

A: When they led me into the front room there was -- they introduced me to another man sitting in the front room already. They introduced me to him as Rex (T. 17).

Miss Smith then testified that Mr. Larsen and Mr. Hicken went into a back room and returned wherein the defendant sat down by her and gave to her one of the bags of marijuana.

Miss Smith then gave \$100.00 to Mr. Larsen, the source, and Mr. Larsen returned \$5.00 (T. 19 l. 15-20).

Upon cross-examination of Miss Smith, she indicated that the source, Larsen, had returned from the back room with two baggies filled with marijuana, and not Mr. Hicken (T. 23 l. 13).

Miss Smith had never known a Bob Hicken prior to that night nor had any suspicions or knowledge of any dealings in narcotics or selling or anything of that nature relating to Mr. Hicken (T. 24 l. 20-29). Mr. Hicken never received possession of the money and the defendant alleges that he never received possession of any narcotics.

After the testimony of Miss Smith and Officer Markling, counsel for the defendant motioned the Court to dismiss the Information filed against defendant in that the Information charged the defendant with one count of distribution for value of a controlled substance, to-wit: Marijuana. Counsel contended that it appeared from the evidence, uncontradicted, that Mr. Hicken did not sell the marijuana to the undercover agent but that at most the defendant had arranged for Miss Smith to purchase the marijuana. Counsel for the State had argued that the Accomplice Statute, U.C.A. §76-2-202, allowed the Information to stand, in that, the Accomplice Statute is applicable to the Controlled Substance Act.

The trial court found that Title 76 of the Utah Criminal Code applied generally to the acts of the legislature but the Utah Controlled Substance Act was a specific statute and where the Controlled Substance Act dealt with the conduct specifically, the Controlled Substance Act took precedence and controlled. The Court found that the defendant was charged with one crime but the evidence supported another and consequently dismissed the information filed against the defendant.

ARGUMENT

IT WAS ERROR TO CHARGE THE DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT UNDER §58-37-8(1)(a)(ii).

The general provisions of the Utah Criminal Code provide in §76-1-103 as follows:

The provisions of this code shall govern the construction of, the punishment for and defenses against any offense defined in this code or, except where otherwise specifically provided or the context otherwise requires, any offense defined outside this code; provided such offense was committed after the effective date of this code appeared (emphasis added).

Section 58-37-19 (1953) as amended provides as follows:

It is the purpose of this act to regulate and control the substances designated within §58-37-4, and whenever the requirements proscribe, the offenses defined or the penalties imposed relating to substances controlled by this act shall be or appear to be in conflict with Title 51, Chapter 17, or any other laws of this state, the provisions of this act shall be controlling (emphasis added).

In the present case, the defendant is charged with the offense of distribution for value of a controlled substance in violation of §58-37-8(1)(a)(ii) (1953), as amended. The defendant contends and the District Court agreed that the "arranging statute", §58-37-8(1)(a)(iv) of the Utah Controlled Substance Act is applicable under the facts, as presented at trial. Said section provides:

. . . it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly and intentionally: (iv) To agree, consent, offer or arrange to distribute or dispense a controlled substance for value . . . (emphasis added).

It is clear from the testimony of Judy Smith that the defendant was acting only on behalf of the police officer in contacting the source and that the police officer, Miss Smith, was the person to purchase the marijuana and not the defendant. The defendant was merely acting in the capacity of arranging for a sale of the marijuana at the instance and request of the undercover agent, Judy Smith, and the agent, Jerry Middleton, who was acting under the direction of the police. Further, counsel for the State stipulated in his opening argument to the jury that the defendant was not "some high-powered drug dealer or some drug pusher." The State's counsel argued:

In fact, I am just going to show you this defendant was more of a middleman. He encouraged and aided and furthered the drug transaction in violation of law which wouldn't have occurred if he hadn't been around to make sure the sale went through . . . he got on the phone and made some arrangements to buy some marijuana, to get her some marijuana (T. 6).

This Court, in Helmuth v. Morris, 598 P.2d 333 (Utah 1979), found that the Controlled Substance Act applied more specifically to the defendant's offense and took precedence over the Criminal Code's general forgery statute.

In Helmuth, the petitioner argued that his conviction of uttering a forged prescription should be dictated and controlled by the Utah Criminal Code and not by the Utah Controlled Substance Act.

The defendant's argument in Helmuth was based upon equal protection. Specifically, the defendant-petitioner argued the Utah Criminal Code §76-6-501(1)(b) controlled the sentencing and that defendant's conduct was proscribed therein as a misdemeanor and should be treated as such. The Utah Controlled Substance Act also applied to the acts of the defendant, but, however made said conduct a felony.

This Court held as follows:

We recognize the soundness of his (defendant's) contention that where two interdict the same conduct, but impose different penalties, the violator is entitled to the lesser punishment . . . inasmuch as the former act applies more specifically to the plaintiff's offense, it takes precedence over the latter act.

Correlated to the foregoing, it is to be noted that the legislature has expressly provided in §58-37-19 of the Controlled Substance Act that 'whenever . . . the penalties impose relating to substances controlled by this act shall be or appear to be in conflict with . . . any other laws of this state, the provisions of this act shall be controlling.' Thus, even if petitioner were correct in his postulate that the statute referred to prohibited the same conduct, the legislature has declared that the provisions of Title 58, Chapter 17, rather than those contained in the Criminal Code, are to be applied in offenses relating to narcotic drugs.

In the instant case, the facts are more applicable and specifically controlled by the Utah Controlled Substance Act

§58-37-8(1)(a)(iv)--Arranging.

Defendant refers the Court to State v. Harrison, 601 P.2d 922 (Utah 1979). The appellant therein argued that §58-37-8(1)(a)(iv) was unconstitutionally vague. This Court, finding otherwise, defining the arranging statute, stated:

Thus any witting or intentional lending of aid in the distribution of drugs, whatever form it takes, is proscribed by the act. The citizen of average intelligence is left with no confusion as to what type of conduct is forbidden.

In Harrison, the defendant was convicted under §58-37-8(1)(a)(iv) of arranging distribution for value of a controlled substance. In that case the Vernal Police Department sent a police informant to the defendant's residence for the purpose of purchasing cocaine. When the informant arrived at the defendant's home, he was told that the defendant could not supply cocaine but was told an acquaintance of the defendant's might be able to furnish a substitute substance. The defendant took the police informant to meet the acquaintance by the name of "Suzy" and a drug transaction ensued between "Suzy" and the police informant.

The facts in that case are strikingly similar to the case of Harrison where the respondent was approached by a police undercover agent to secure the purchase of marijuana. The defendant herein, unable or unwilling to accommodate the police undercover agent, takes the undercover agent to the residence of Mr. Larsen and a drug transaction occurs between Mr. Larsen (the source) and the undercover agent.

Section 58-37-8(1)(a)(iv) specifically covers the area charged herein and preempts the application of the general provisions of the Utah Criminal Code §76-1-103(1). The "arranging"

statute supplants the "accomplice" statute of the Criminal Code as applied to the facts herein, State v. Harrison.

Section 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii), under which the defendant was charged, specifically covers and clearly proscribes the sale of a controlled substance or possession with intent to sell a proscribed substance. See, State v. Mills, 641 P.2d 119 (Utah 1982); State v. Hubbard, 601 P.2d 929 (Utah 1979); and State v. Crabtree, 618 P.2d 484 (Utah 1980).


It is accepted in this and other jurisdictions that a specific statute (arranging) takes precedence over a general statute (accomplice). See, Helmuth v. Morris, 598 P.2d 333 (Utah 1979); In Re Smart, 505 P.2d 1979 (Hawaii 1973); and 73 Am.Jur.2d Statutes §257 (1974) Under the definition of Harrison, the Arranging Statute supplements and pre-empts the application of the Accomplice Statute.

CONCLUSION

The respondent was improperly charged under U.C.A. §58-37-8(1)(a)(ii). Section 58-37-8(1)(a)(iv) is applicable in the instant case and specifically applies to any conduct for which the defendant is criminally liable. When the Utah Controlled Substance Act specifically applies to a specific fact or situation the Controlled Substance Act takes precedence over and pre-empts any and all general statutes, including the Accomplice Statute of the Utah Criminal Code. The dismissal of the State's Information against the defendant was properly granted and should not be disturbed by this Court.

(continued)