1982

The State of Utah v. Robert Hicken : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Respondent was charged with distribution of a controlled substance for value; to wit, marijuana, in violation of Utah Code Ann., § 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii) (1953), as amended.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Respondent was tried before a jury on February 17, 1982 in the Fourth Judicial District Court for Utah County, State of Utah, the Honorable Allen B. Sorenson presiding. The trial court issued a final order granting defendant-respondent's Motion to Dismiss the Information.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks the granting of a rehearing or a summary reversal of this Court's February 14, 1983 decision in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 19, 1981, respondent Robert Hicken was at the home of Jerry Middleton in Provo, Utah, hoping to meet a new customer to whom he could sell drugs (T. 13). Mr. Middleton was working in cooperation with Sergeant Paul Markling of the Provo City Police Department (T. 13, 28, 32). At some point in the day, Judy Smith, a Provo City Police Department employee working for the detective's division, went to Mr. Middleton's home and was met at the door by Mr. Middleton (T. 13). Miss Smith was acting under the instructions of Sergeant Markling and was to attempt to buy some marijuana or cocaine from a third party (T. 13, 28). Miss Smith did not know Mr. Middleton, nor was she aware he was acting in cooperation with the police (T. 240. Mr. Middleton introduced Miss Smith to respondent (T. 14). Respondent asked Miss Smith how much she wanted to purchase, and after confirming the price and quantity with his "source" over the telephone, respondent agreed to sell her two bags of marijuana for \$95 (T. 13-15).

Respondent instructed Miss Smith, Mr. Middleton and Mr. Middleton's little sister to get into Miss Smith's car and

follow respondent in his car (T. 16). At approximately 1100 South and 50 East in Orem, respondent pulled over to the side of the road and asked Miss Smith to go with him to complete the previously negotiated sale while Mr. Middleton and his little sister waited in Miss Smith's car (T. 16). Respondent drove Miss Smith in his car to the home of his "source," Mr. Larsen (T. 17).

Once inside, respondent explained to Mr. Larsen that Miss Smith, not respondent, was to purchase the marijuana (T. 17). Mr. Larsen, followed by respondent, went into a back room for a few minutes (T. 17). When they returned, respondent was carrying the marijuana. He examined it, commented that it was "really good stuff" and delivered it to Miss Smith (T. 18-19, 26). Miss Smith then paid Mr. Larsen \$95, the previously agreed upon price (T. 19).

Respondent drove Miss Smith back to her car (T. 20). She drove Mr. Middleton and his little sister back to their home, and then drove to the police station where she reported to Sergeant Markling and gave him the marijuana (T. 20).

At trial, after the State rested its case, defendant-respondent moved to dismiss the Information claiming that in light of the evidence produced by the State, respondent had been improperly charged under § 58-37-8(1)(a)(ii), the distribution for value subsection, and should have been charged under § 58-37-8(1)(a)(iv) which defense counsel

characterized as the "arranging statute" (T. 33-36). The State reasoned that because Utah's aiding and abetting statute, § 76-2-2-2, provides that an aider and abettor may be charged as a principal, respondent was, in fact, correctly charged because the evidence clearly showed that he had aided in the distribution of a controlled substance for value (T. 33-37). Despite the State's argument, the court ruled that the aiding and abetting provision, § 76-2-202 of the Criminal Code, did not apply to the Controlled Substances Act and therefore respondent could not be found guilty of the crime charged in the Information (T. 37).

Appellant appealed the final judgment of dismissal pursuant to Rule 26(c)(1) of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure.

ARGUMENT

The Court's opinion holds that respondent should have been charged with "arranging a sale" under Utah Code Ann., § 58-37-8(1)(a)(iv) (1953), as amended, and that Utah Code Ann., § 76-2-202 (1953), as amended, did not apply. The opinion is supported by the reasoning that the Controlled Substances Act expressly and specifically sanctions the offense of arranging for the distribution of a controlled substance and thereby displaces the general sanction for aiding and abetting provided for in § 76-2-202. In reaching

this conclusion, the Court has overlooked certain elementary principles of English usage and principles of logic which materially affect this appeal and has failed to discern the plain meaning of the statute.

Utah Code Ann., § 58-37-8(1)(a)(iv) (1953), as amended, must be read in its entirety for its meaning to become manifest. It states:

(a) Except as authorized by this act, it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly and intentionally: . . .

(iv) To agree, consent, offer, or arrange to distribute or dispense a controlled substance for value or to negotiate to have a controlled substance distributed or dispensed for value and distribute, dispense, or negotiate the distribution or dispensing of any other liquid, substance, or material in lieu of the specific controlled substance so offered, agreed, consented, arranged, or negotiated (Emphasis added).

For purposes of illustrative argument, subpart (iv) may be divided into three phrases, A, B and C. Phrase A includes:

To agree, consent, offer, or to arrange to distribute or disperse a controlled substance for value

Phrase A is connected, without punctuation, by the word "or" to Phrase B which reads:

to negotiate to have a controlled substance distributed or dispensed for value

Phrase B is connected, without punctuation, by the word "and"

to the final phrase of the statute, Phrase C, which reads:

distribute, dispense, or negotiate the distribution or dispensing of any other liquid, substance, or material in lieu of the specific controlled substance so offered, agreed, consented, arranged, or negotiated.

Demarcated as explained above, subpart (iv) appears as follows:

To agree, consent, offer, or arrange to distribute or dispense a controlled substance for value / or / to negotiate to have a controlled substance distributed or dispense for value / and / distribute, dispense, or negotiate the distribution or dispensing of any other liquid, substance, or material in lieu of the specific controlled substance so offered, agreed, consented, arranged, or negotiated (Emphasis added).

When the subpart is read as it is interpreted in the Court's opinion, the "or" which appears between Phrase A and Phrase B is emphasized. So read, the subpart proscribes the conduct "A" and also proscribes the conduct "B and C."

The "or" emphasized by the Court, however, is not the only connective used in the statute. There are many. One of equal importance is the first "or" found in Phrase C. One of greater importance is the "and" which appears between Phrases B and C. When the subpart is read as interpreted by appellant, this "and" in conjunction with Phrase C properly becomes the crux of the subpart.

Appellant's interpretation of the subpart is that it proscribes the conduct "A and C" and also proscribes the conduct "B and C." This is what the subpart says when logically read. The conduct "A" by itself is not proscribed by this subpart. That is, an agreement, offer, arrangement or consent to the distribution or dispensing of a controlled substance is not punishable by this subpart if standing alone, contrary to this Court's opinion.

The reasons supporting appellant's interpretation are several and are based primarily upon rules of English usage and logic as these disciplines are related to the construction of the subsection. The first reason is that there is no punctuation between Phrase "A" and the "or" introducing Phrase "B." If there was a comma before the word "or", the Court's holding that Phrase "A" is a separate criminal sanction independent of Phrases "B" and "C" might be correct. This would be consistent with the rule of English usage that requires that a comma be placed before a conjunction introducing an independent clause. The absence of a comma before "or" indicates that Phrase A must be read in conjunction with Phrase C and is not a separate criminal sanction in and of itself.

The second reason is that Phrase A is stated in the conjunctive in relation to Phrase C. Although the "or" indicates that Phrases A and B are stated in the disjunctive,

they are disjunctive only so far as they relate to each other. Phrase A is nonetheless stated in the conjunctive in relation to Phrase C, and similarly, Phrase B is stated in the conjunctive in relation to Phrase C. This is more easily understood if it is remembered that all three phrases follow from subsection (a) of the statute and are all dependent clauses. Absent punctuation indicating otherwise, the use of the word "or" does not divorce Phrase A from the remainder of the sentence.

The third and perhaps the most compelling reason sustaining appellant's interpretation of the subpart involves the parallel structure of the statute. Phrase C incorporates all the essential language of both Phrase A and Phrase B (with the exception of the "for value" requirement) and also the "or" connecting those phrases. The "distribute or dispense" language of Phrase A is paired, again by a disjunctive "or", with the "to negotiate to have . . . distributed or dispersed" language of Phrase B. This language, identical in meaning, appears in Phrase C as "distribute, dispense, or negotiate distribution or dispensing."

After the above reiteration, Phrase C adds its own operative language, that being: "any other liquid, substance, or material in lieu of." This is followed by the words "the specific controlled substance." This language of Phrase C

refers the reader directly back to its parallel, the "a controlled substance" language found in both Phrase A and Phrase B. Such syntax is not mere coincidence.

That Phrase A of the subpart cannot be read alone is also clear from the Legislature's inclusion of the language "so offered, agreed, consented, arranged, or negotiated" in Phrase C. "Negotiated," as the Court implied in its opinion in this case, clearly corresponds with "negotiate" as used in Phrase B. The words "so offered, agreed, consented, arranged" in Phrase C clearly correspond with the "agree, consent, offer, or arrange" language of Phrase A and are conclusive evidence that Phrase A and Phrase C are to be read together. This is the only reason language from Phrase A would be repeated in parallel form in Phrase C. If the subpart were to be interpreted as the Court has in this case, this expression of coordinate ideas in similar form would be unneeded, irrelevant and confusing. Thus, it is apparent that Phrase C was meant to be read in conjunction with either Phrase A or Phrase B as the circumstances of the particular case might require.

Drafting the subpart in this way, so that it solely applies where any other liquid, substance, or material in lieu of a specific controlled substance is involved, cannot be said to be myopic on the part of the Legislature. The subpart addresses one problem, that known in the vernacular as a

"turkey buy." It addresses the problem in terms of a person performing the distribution or dispensing necessary for the "turkey buy" himself, and in terms of the person negotiating to have another perform the actual distribution or dispensing. The subpart makes reference to both controlled and counterfeit substances only because providing a counterfeit substance in lieu of a controlled substance is the essence of a "turkey buy." "Arranging" for the distribution of a genuine controlled substance, as occurred in the facts of this case, is clearly proscribed by subpart (ii) of § 58-37-8 of the Controlled Substances Act and § 76-2-202 of the Criminal Code. Section 76-2-202 is applicable to the Controlled Substances Act by way of Utah Code Ann., § 76-1-103 (1953), as amended. State v. Jeppson, Utah, 546 P.2d 894 (1976). Subpart (iv) applies only to "in lieu of" distributions and dispensings and is therefore not in conflict with a finding of criminal culpability under the agency theory.

The Court's reliance on State v. Harrison, Utah, 601 P.2d 922 (1979), in conjunction with its distinction of State v. Jeppson, Utah, 546 P.2d 894 (1976), is enlightening. In Harrison, at 293, this Court made the following statement in reference to subpart (iv) at issue here:

A statute may legitimately proscribe a broad spectrum of conduct with a very few words, so long as the outer perimeters of such conduct are clearly defined. The

statute in question accomplishes this by specifying that any activity leading to or resulting in the distribution for value of a controlled substance must be engaged in knowingly or with intent that such distribution would, or would be likely to occur. Thus, any witting or intentional lending of aid in the distribution of drugs, whatever form it takes, is proscribed by the act (Emphasis added).

In the earlier case, Jeppson, the defendant was charged with aiding another because he had knowingly and intentionally made his trailer available to persons unlawfully possessing, using or distributing controlled substances therein. Id. at 895. The Court upheld the use of an aiding and abetting instruction incorporating, in haec verba, the provisions of § 76-2-202 on the basis that:

It is applicable here, because the Controlled Substances Act does not specifically provide otherwise, nor does its context require otherwise.

Id. at 896. In its opinion in this case the Court further elaborated:

There are no provisions in the Utah Controlled Substances Act dealing with the offense of providing a place for illegally selling drugs, and therefore the provisions of the Criminal Code may be resorted to.

State v. Hicken, Utah, ____ P.2d ____, filed February 14, 1983, at 3 (1983). This distinction appears to be at odds

with the Court's declaration in Harrison. Unless one is to believe that providing a place for illegally selling drugs is not included in "any witting or intentional lending of aid in the distribution of drugs, whatever form it takes," Harrison and Jeppson are in conflict. That conflict, instead of being resolved by the Court's opinion in this case, is perpetuated by it.